FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 OCT 16 PM 1: 10

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUTY

No. 46465-9-II

IN DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JZK, INC.,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

VIRGINIA COVERDALE,

Defendant-Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRECKAN C.L. SCOTT, ATTORNEY OF LAW, PLLC Breckan Scott, WSBA No. 41585 P.O. Box 1123 Yelm, WA 98597 (360) 960-8951

SCHATZ LAW GROUP Anthony Gipe, WSBA No. 30491 adgipe@shatzlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant Coverdale

Ì

JZK, Inc.'s misrepresentations regarding both the validity and nature of scientific studies used to substantiate claims made to induce new customers
Once an established customer subject to nondisclosure provisions, JZK, Inc.'s business practices include psychological and emotional abuse, sleep and food deprivation
JZK, Inc.'s instruction to customers to engage in questionable investment schemes, and instruction to apply disciplines in order to manifest wealth by purchasing JZK, Inc. retail products and lottery tickets sold by JZK, Inc14
JZK, Inc. instructs customers to ingest elixir containing industrial lye; many suffer detrimental health effects15
Dangerous conditions at JZK, Inc. events
Physical Assault and Instruction Not to Seek Medical Attention
Severe Impact to Customers' Mental Health
Most of the customers submitting declarations did not know Coverdale (or each other) prior to 2012, many of them do not live in Washington State, and their testimony is consistent
Ms. Coverdale proceeds to engage the problem via the political process to petition her local officials, not knowing that her complaints are not being acted upon, but rather forwarded as a "heads up" directly to JZK, Inc
JZ Knight donates hundreds of thousands of dollars each year to the fire authority that is forwarding Ms. Coverdale's complaints, and Fire Chief Mark King writes letters of appreciation to the newspapers while this litigation pending
Ms. Coverdale receives video anonymously in the U.S. Mail on a flash drive depicting the 11 hour February 2012 livestream event and uses footage to make the Youtube video issue

	В.	Procedural History20
		JZK, Inc. files Complaint for Breach of Contract based on nondisclosure provisions in its consumer form contract20
		Trial court grants temporary and preliminary injunctions.21
		Trial court dismisses Ms. Coverdale's counterclaims22
		Judge Tabor dismisses Ms. Coverdale's affirmative defenses, citing, in part, that JZK, Inc. is entitled to its beliefs
		Judge Tabor grants summary judgment for JZK, Inc. and finds that Ms. Coverdale breached the agreement as matter of law but does not explain basis for ignoring limitation in agreement to events in which she participated
V.	STAN	DARD OF REVIEW
	1.	Summary Judgment
VI.	ARGU	JMENT
	bro su by	tis Court should find that Coverdale's conduct was not a each, because consumer contracts requiring secrecy are bestantively unconscionable and violate the policies expressed this Court in McKee v. AT&T Corporation, 164 Wn. 2d. 372 (2008)
	1.	The agreement is a standard form consumer contract of adhesion prepared by JZK, Inc. and submitted on a take it or leave it basis to consumers who have no true equality of bargaining power
	2.	The relevant nondisclosure clause is substantively unconscionable as a one-sided and overly harsh provision as a matter of law
	3.	The inherent potential for abuse in the consumer nondisclosure provision renders it substantively unconscionable for the policies expressed by this Court in <i>Mckee v. AT&T Corp</i> , 164 Wn. 2d. 372
	4.	The consumer nondisclosure agreement undermines other public policies such as: government accountability; freedom of speech and to petition government; and a

		consumer secrecy, such as dignity in the electoral process
		29
	5	JZK, Inc.'s consumer nondisclosure provisions also implicate public policy concerns because it allows JZK. Inc. to impermissibly avoid the requirements of the Copyright Act and the Uniform Trade Secrets Act
	6	This Court should reverse summary judgment for JZK, Inc., enter judgment as a matter of law for Ms. Coverdale, and enter judgment for attorney fees and costs against both JZK, Inc., and JZ Knight individually pursuant to alter ego
В.	Acres shown	e nondisclosure provisions violate the Consumer Protection, RCW 19.86, et seq., as to Coverdale and all other JZK, Inc. tomers subject to nondisclosure provisions, and this Court all also find that the class of customers subject to JZK, Inc.'s adisclosure provisions meet the prerequisites of CR 23(a)(1)
C.	Co agr the	s Court should enter judgment as a matter of law for verdale because the 2007 CoP is the only controlling eement, Coverdale did not breach that agreement, and, even it re was a breach, it was excused by JZK, Inc.'s anticipatory ach
	1.	The 2007 CoP is a substitute agreement, and is the only relevant CoP
	2.	Coverdale did not breach the clear terms of the agreement
	3.	Even if ambiguous, Coverdale still entitled to judgment as a matter of law because terms must be construed against the drafter, and JZK, Inc.'s interpretation is both unreasonable and contradictory to the written language of the agreement

	4	JZK, Inc.'s November 2008 email was a clear and unequivocal communication of intent to no longer be bound by the agreement and excused any further performance by Ms. Coverdale
D.	rer aff for tria	mmary judgment for JZK, Inc. must be reversed, and the case nanded because it was error as a matter of law to dismiss irmative defenses, and this Court should reinstate counterclaims misrepresentation and fraud, and remand for consolidation and all with the recently re-filed action for defamation and related ims
	1.	Trial court erred as a matter of law by requiring additional elements to the four necessary for the affirmative defense of fraudulent inducement, and by dismissing affirmative defenses despite existence of material factual dispute
	2.	Trial court erred as a matter of law when it ruled JZK, Inc.'s conduct is protected by free exercise of religion, and when it prohibited counterclaims despite existence of material factual dispute
E.	int and Inc	fal Court committed reversible error by allowing JZK, Inc. to roduce new evidence and argument in an untimely reply brief, d ruled in favor of JZK, Inc. on summary judgment while JZK, e.'s Motion for Protective Order concerning relevant discovery s pending
F.	Co	is Court should find that Coverdale did not commit contempt of ourt as a matter of law when she sold her personal vehicle, cause there was no specific order prohibiting the conduct, and as there can be no evidence of specific intent
	1.	Summary of Background Relating to Contempt Order63
	2.	Coverdale could not have been in contempt of the Writ of Execution because a Writ is directed to the Sheriff and does not direct a debtor to take any action or refrain from taking any action
	3.	There is no prohibition in the Oct. 24, 2013 Order Prohibiting Ms. Coverdale's Sale of her Personal Vehicle68

	4. Trial court erred as a matter of law in issuing a Contempt Order containing no legal mechanism capable of performance to purge the Contempt
G.	Coverdale is entitled to attorney fees and costs incurred from the inception of this case, including all fees and costs incurred defending JZK, Inc.'s efforts to collect on the judgment, and incurred on appeal
VII.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases	<u>Page</u>
Adler v. Fred Lind Manor,	
153 Wn. 2d. 331, 103 P. 3d. 773 (2004)	25
Bader v. Moore Bldg. Co.,	
94 Wash. 221, 162 P. 8 (1917)	40
Bally Total Fitness Holding Corp. v. Faber,	
29 F.Supp.2d 1161, (C.D.C. 1998)	31
Bosley Medical Institute, Inc. v. Kremer,	
403 F.3d 672 (9" Cir. 2005)	31
Caruso v. Local 690, Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters,	
100 Wn.2d 343, 670 P.2d 240 (1983)	59
Casa del Rey v. Hart,	
643 P. 2d 900, 31 Wn. App. 532 (1982)	67
Cupples v. Level,	
103 P. 430, 54 Wash. 299, 302 (1909)	67
Dice v. City of Montesano,	
131 Wn. App. 675, 684, 128 P. 3d 1253 (2006).	42
Doherty v. Municipality of Metro. Seattle,	
83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P.2d 1098 (1996)	62
Dreiling v. Jain,	
151 Wash.2d 900, 93 P.3d 861 (2004)	28
Ferguson v. Jeanes,	
27 Wash. App. 558 (1980)	54
Go2Net. Inc. v. C I Host. Inc	

115 Wn. App. 73, 85, 60 P. 3d 1245 (2003)42
Higgins v. Stafford,
123 Wash. 2d 160, 866 P. 2d 31 (1994)
Ikeda v. Curtis,
43 Wash. 2d. 449 (1953)54
In re Northwest Homes of Chehalis, Inc.,
526 F. 2d 505 (9th Cir. 1975)67
In re the Detention of Capello v. State,
113 Wn. App. 739 (2002)61
In re Marriage of Nielsen,
38 Wash.App. 586, 588, 687 P.2d 877 (1984)65
King v. Dep't of Soc & Health Servs.,
110 Wash.2d 793, 797, 756 P.2d 1303 (1988)65
King v. Rice,
146 Wn. App. 662, 668, 191 P.3d 946 (2008), rev. denied, 165 Wn.2d 1049 (2009)
King v. Riveland,
125 Wash.2d 500, 511, 886 P.2d 160 (1994)29
McKee v. AT&T Corporation
191 P.3d 845, 164 Wn.2d 372 (2008)23. 26, 27, 28, 33, 38
Monks & Miller, Inc. v. Fein,
215 P. 525, 125 Wash. 230, 235 (1923)66
Nelson v. McGoldrick,
127 Wn .2d 124, 131 (1995)24
Ockletree v. Franciscan Health System, No. 88218-5 (Wash. 2014)56

Olsen Media v. Energy Sciences, Inc.,
32 Wash.App. 579, 585, 648 P.2d 493, review denied, 98 Wash.2d 1004 (1982)
Puget Sound Service Corp. v. Bush,
724 P.2d 1127, 45 Wn. App. 312 (1986)51
R.D. Merrill Co. v. Pollution Control Hearing Board,
137 Wn.2d 118, , 969 P.2d 458 (1999)62
Scott v. Cingular Wireless,
161 P.3d 1000, 160 Wn.2d 843 (2007)28, 31
Segaline v. State, Dept. of Labor and Industries,
169 Wn.2d 467, 472-73, 238 P.3d 1107 (2010)31
Shields v. Enter. Leasing Co.,
139 Wn. App. 664, 670, 161 P.3d 1068 (2007)22
Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.,
134 Wn.2d 24, 29-30, 948 P.2d 816 (1997)38
State v. Conte, 159 Wn. 2d 797, 817, 154 P.3d 194 (2007)
State Dept. of Ecology v. Tiger Oil Corp.,
271 P. 3d 331, 166 Wn. App. 720 (2012)68
Stofferan v. Depew, 79 Wash. 170, 139 P. 1084 (1914)40