FILED COURT OF APPEALS CIVISION II

2014 NOV 13 PM 3: 30

Supreme Court No. 89193-1 Court of Appeals No. 46465-9-II STATE OF WASHINGTON

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### VIRGINIA COVERDALE

Appellant,

VS.

JZK, INC.,

Respondent.

#### AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Andrea H. McNeely, WSBA No. 36156 amcneely@gth-law.com Eric D. Gilman, WSBA No. 41680 egilman@gth-law.com 1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 620-6500

SKELLENGER BENDER P.S.
Jeffrey C. Grant, WSBA No. 11046
JGrant@skellengerbender.com

Attorneys for Respondent

### **

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

<sup>11</sup> The court noted that the case was "analogous to *Religious Technology Center* [v. *Netcom On–Line Community Services.*, 923 F. Supp. 1231, 1252 (N.D. Cal. 1995)] in which the district court determined that the Church's religious texts could qualify as trade secrets, in part because the Church's adherents were under a duty of confidentiality as to the relevant materials." *Art of Living Found.*, 2012 WL 1565281 at \*20.

Similarly, in *Shell v. American Family Rights Ass'n*, 899 F. Supp. 2d 1035 (D. Col. 2012), the plaintiff required attendees of her child protection services seminars to sign nondisclosure forms. *Id.* at 1046. Again, without any suggestion that the nondisclosure agreement was unconscionable or somehow violated public policy, the court found that the plaintiff had stated causes of action for both a trade secrets violation, *id.* at 1056, and breach of contract. *Id.* at 1059 ("The Complaint alleges that Ms. Swallow signed a nondisclosure agreement but nonetheless disseminated confidential materials from the training seminar . . . . This is sufficient to state a claim for breach of contract"). <sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Agreements with similar nondisclosure provisions are commonly used and enforced. See, e.g., Moore v. Commercial Aircraft Interiors, LLC, 168 Wn. App. 502, 512, 278 P.3d 197, 201 (2012) (recognizing the validity of Commercial Aircraft Interiors' nondisclosure agreement); BBA Nonwovens Simpsonville, Inc. v. Superior Nonwovens, LLC, 303 F.3d 1332, 1342 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (substantial evidence supported existence of enforceable nondisclosure agreement); MAI Sys. Corp. v. Peak Computer, Inc., 991 F.2d 511, 521 (9th Cir. 1991) (noting that a confidentiality agreement is a reasonable step to ensure secrecy); Technical Indus., Inc. v. Banks, 419 F. Supp. 2d 903, 915 (W.D. La. 2006) (plaintiff established substantial likelihood of success on the merits of enforcing nondisclosure agreement); Newport-Mesa Unified Sch. Dist. v. State of Cal. Dept. of Educ., 371 F. Supp. 2d 1170, 1179 (C.D. Cal., 2005) (nondisclosure agreement a valid way to reduce risk of disclosure of copyrighted materials); APAC Teleservices, Inc. v. McRae, 985 F. Supp. 852, 868 (N.D. Iowa, 1997) (public interest served by protecting disclosure of trade secrets by enforcing nondisclosure agreement); Revere Transducers, Inc. v. Deere & Co., 595 N.W.2d 751, 762 (Iowa 1999) (nondisclosure agreement reasonably necessary to protect plaintiff's business interests).

As discussed, a nondisclosure clause arising in a consumer contract for a non-essential activity is *less* likely to be unconscionable than one arising in the context of a commercial or employment contract. *E.g.*, WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 19:25 (4th ed. 1993). Nonetheless, in either case, a party is receiving something (*e.g.*, access to

An agreement, such as the CoP, that simply requires students not to disclose an organization's materials is not substantively unconscionable—that is, it is not one-sided or overly harsh. *Nelson v. McGoldrick*, 127 Wn.2d 124, 131, 896 P.2d 1258 (1995).

## C. The plain language of both the 2006 and 2007 CoP protect JZK, Inc. from precisely the conduct engaged in by Coverdale.

At least three specific terms in both the 2006 and 2007 Conditions<sup>13</sup> directly prohibit the precise conduct Coverdale admits she engaged in:

presentation; employment) and is agreeing not to disclose certain information in exchange. The cases cited above merely stand for the unremarkable proposition that courts enforce nondisclosure agreements like any other contract.

<sup>13</sup> Coverdale's argument that the trial court erred in finding she had breached *both* the 2006 and 2007 CoP is procedurally precluded. Coverdale raised the issue for the first time in a motion for reconsideration, arguing "[i]t was an error of law to give any consideration to the 2006 CoP." CP 1731. This was in contravention of her own prior position, and any proclaimed error was invited by Coverdale herself.

Though she analyzed none of the factors authorizing reconsideration, Coverdale sought relief under Civil Rule 59. CP 1724. That rule does not permit a party, "finding a judgment unsatisfactory, to suddenly propose a new theory of the case." *JDF Corp. v. Int'l Raceway, Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 1, 7, 970 P.2d 343 (1999). This would violate, among other things, the invited error doctrine. *Id.*; see also In re Pers. Restraint of Tortorelli, 149 Wn.2d 82, 94, 66 P.3d 606, cert. denied, 540 U.S. 875, 124 S. Ct. 223, 157 L. Ed. 2d 137 (2003) ("The invited error doctrine prohibits a party from setting up an error in the trial court then complaining of it on appeal.") Washington courts "refuse to permit such a perversion of the rules." *Id.* While an issue closely related to an issue previously raised may be raised in a motion for reconsideration, *Anderson v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 83 Wn. App. 725, 734, 923 P.2d 713 (1996), a movant must first provide an "explanation for why [new] arguments were not timely presented." *Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst.*, 130 Wn. App. 234, 241, 122 P.3d 729 (2005).

Here, Coverdale never raised any argument about a "substitute contract" in any of her *five* briefs relating to summary judgment. In fact, she argued favorable inferences that could be reached from her signing of the 2006 CoP. *E.g.* CP 1028 ln.15; 1220 ln. 18. Coverdale certainly never objected to the trial court's consideration of the 2006 CoP prior to the adverse ruling against her, as evidenced by her own proposed order. CP 1039.

copying, adapting, distributing, and disseminating RSE information and materials taught at the School. When she signed and separately initialed the CoP, Coverdale promised as follows:

- You agree not to teach or otherwise disseminate . . . any information or techniques that you learn or are taught at the School[;]
- Nor will you assist or facilitate others in doing so without the prior written consent of the School[;]
- You are not authorized to copy, reproduce, prepare adaptations publicly distribute publicly perform, or publicly display any of those materials without the prior written consent of the School

CP 943-44; 946-47 (2006 CoP and 2007 CoP at ¶¶ 1, 2). Moreover, the sentence of the first numbered paragraph of the Conditions put Coverdale on notice that she would be expected to keep JZK, Inc. information private: "The information and techniques taught here are for your knowledge only." *Id.* (CoPs at ¶ 1). The meaning is unequivocal:

Having now realized that her "undue influence" argument could not apply to the 2006 CoP, Coverdale changes position. But a party may not remain silent on an issue during summary judgment proceedings only to take a contrary position on a motion for reconsideration, and then complain about an error on appeal.

Even so, the very authorities cited by Coverdale make clear that substitution only applies "when two contracts are in conflict," that is, "containing inconsistent terms[.]" *Higgins v. Stafford*, 123 Wn.2d 160, 165–66, 866 P.2d 31 (1994). Where terms are not inconsistent, neither document supersedes the other. *Stranberg v. Lasz*, 115 Wn. App. 396, 403, 63 P.3d 809 (2003). Here, Coverdale repeatedly stated that "[t]he 2006 CoP contains an almost identical provision" to the 2007 CoP. CP 1210 n.3; CP 1017 n.3. The trial court properly ruled that Coverdale breached *both* CoPs.

information and material taught at RSE are not to be disseminated. The Conditions further make clear that this promise is for the lifetime of JZ Knight, plus 21 years. CP 944 (2006 CoP at ¶ 7); 947 (2007 CoP at ¶ 6).

Coverdale argues that she should not be bound by her promise because she did not receive the RSE video she disseminated from JZK, Inc. while she was a student at RSE. Her argument is squarely contradicted by the very contract language on which she relies and contrary to well-established principals of contract interpretation:

We impute an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used. Thus, when interpreting contracts, the subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the actual words used. We generally give words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent.

Hearst, 154 Wn.2d at 503–04 (internal citations omitted).

Here, in the actual words *and* in the entirety of the agreement, Coverdale promised not to disseminate that which is "taught at the School." Her argument asks this Court to judicially read a different and contradictory meaning into the CoP—one that would allow Coverdale to

circumvent her promise to keep RSE's property confidential as long as she received it from someone else. <sup>14</sup> The Court should decline that request.

### 1. Coverdale is in breach of her agreement under either the 2006 or the 2007 CoP.

Introductory language in the 2007 CoP plainly states: "These conditions apply to students, teachers, and other participants in the School, and apply to all future events or activities in which you participate at the School." CP 242 (emphasis added). Coverdale signed the Conditions as a student at the School and the CoP therefore applies to her. The second independent clause adds that a student will not need to sign a new CoP each time she attends an event. It does not, as Coverdale insists, eliminate or modify the first half of the sentence. Coverdale's interpretation omits the conjunction "and," essentially engrafting the words "but only" in its place. 15

<sup>14</sup> It is well known that Washington courts give effect to all of a contract's provisions over any interpretation that renders some language meaningless or ineffective. *Newsom v. Miller*, 42 Wn.2d 727, 731, 258 P.2d 812 (1953). Similarly, our courts do not give effect to interpretations that render contract obligations illusory. *Taylor v. Shigaki*, 84 Wn. App. 723, 730, 930 P.2d 340 (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Furthermore, Coverdale ignores the fact that the 2007 CoP contains several conditions beyond non-dissemination of JZK, Inc. materials. For instance, there is a notice and waiver of risks associated with activities that "may require physical agility, stamina, and coordination." CP 242 at  $\P$  3. That the first paragraph clarifies that conditions like the risk waiver apply to future events at the School does not somehow limit the non-dissemination provisions, which the CoP provides will "remain in effect and enforceable for the life of JZ Knight, plus 21 years." CP 243 at  $\P$  6.

In any event, Coverdale's argument is moot because the text that she claims supports her untenable rewriting of the 2007 CoP is not present in the 2006 CoP, which Coverdale also signed. CP 239–40. The trial court properly found that the 2006 CoP was also breached. CP 1895.

Finally, to the extent Coverdale argues in her brief that she did not know that the videos she posted depicted information "taught at the School," she is belied by her own testimony. Coverdale acquired the video, understood what it was, hired a technician to edit it, and disseminated it. CP 924–27, 933–39, 956–57. Moreover, before filing suit, JZK, Inc. sent a letter informing Coverdale that the materials she was disseminating were from private RSE events. CP 971, 973–76. She knew what she was doing, was given an opportunity to stop, chose not to do so, and now asks that she not be held accountable.

### 2. Coverdale ignores her contractual promise not to "assist or facilitate" others to disseminate JZK, Inc. materials.

Coverdale's argument ignores, as it must, any substantive analysis of her agreement not to "assist or facilitate other persons" in disseminating JZK, Inc.'s materials. CP 239, 242. Instead, she sidesteps the issue, getting caught up in whether the original source of the video had also signed the CoP. But in signing the CoP, Coverdale did not merely agree not to assist others in *breaching* their own contracts with JZK, Inc. The relevant

provision provides that a student will not disseminate information taught at the School, "nor will you assist or facilitate other persons in doing so without the prior written consent of the School." CP 242.

Thus, all that the CoP requires is that Coverdale not aid or abet anyone—signatory or non-signatory, "anonymous" source or known ally—to disseminate JZK, Inc.'s materials. To be sure, the individual who originally accessed, copied, and disseminated the video to Coverdale necessarily signed the CoP. CP 32 ("The only way that an individual would have lawful access to these [video streams] is by agreeing not to disseminate them"); 924–27, 933–39, 956–57. Regardless, the fact remains the Coverdale facilitated and assisted "other persons" in disseminating JZK, Inc.'s materials.

# D. Anticipatory breach, an unpled affirmative defense, does not apply because Coverdale received the services for which she bargained.

Coverdale asserted the affirmative defense of anticipatory breach for the first time in her motion for summary judgment. *Compare* CP 530–31 *with* CP 1032–33. The defense was waived. Even so, there was no anticipatory breach because Coverdale received precisely the services she had bargained for—namely, information and techniques taught by RSE, where she attended nearly 30 events. CP 227–32.

#### 1. Anticipatory breach was not pleaded and was thus waived.

A party "shall set forth affirmatively . . . any . . . matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense." CR 8(c). An affirmative defense is "[a]ny matter that does not tend to controvert the opposing party's prima facie case as determined by applicable substantive law[.]" *Shinn Irrigation Equip., Inc. v. Marchand*, 1 Wn. App. 428, 430–31, 462 P.2d 571 (1969). "The purpose of Rule 8 as it relates to denials is apparent: 'Denials must be definite enough to inform the adverse party of the issues he must be prepared to meet." *Id.* at 430. "Affirmative defenses are thus waived unless they are (1) affirmatively pleaded, (2) asserted in a motion under CR 12(b), or (3) tried by the parties' express or implied consent." *In re Estate of Palmer*, 145 Wn. App. 249, 187 P.3d 758 (2008). 16

Here, Coverdale waived the affirmative defense of anticipatory breach by failing to assert it until her motion for summary judgment, which she filed May 31, 2013, CP 886, after JZK, Inc. had conducted the majority of its discovery, *see* CP 797, and weeks after JZK, Inc. had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See also Harting v. Barton, 101 Wn. App. 954, 962, 6 P.3d 91 (2000) (lessee waived lack of notice of default); DeYoung v. Cenex Ltd., 100 Wn. App. 885, 896, 1 P.3d 587 (2000) (in contract action, failure to plead satisfaction or payment waived defenses); Henderson v. Tyrell, 80 Wn. App. 592, 625, 910 P.2d 522 (1996) (waiving fault of third party); Rainier Nat'l Bank v. Lewis, 30 Wn. App. 419, 422, 635 P.2d 153 (1981) (waiving failure of consideration).

moved for summary judgment on *all* affirmative defenses. CP 886. It was not properly before the trial court and is not properly before this Court.

#### 2. Coverdale received the services for which she bargained.

Even if anticipatory breach had not been waived, the defense would not apply because JZK, Inc. performed its obligation under the CoP when it allowed Coverdale to attend an event at RSE. "An anticipatory breach occurs when one of the parties . . . repudiates the contract *prior to the time for performance.*" *Lovric v. Dunatov*, 18 Wn. App. 274, 282, 567 P.2d 678 (1977) (emphasis added); *see also* WPI 302.04.

The plain language of the CoP provides that its terms do not merely apply while the student is attending the school, but for the life of JZ Knight, plus 21 years. CP 243 at ¶ 6. Moreover, the CoP expressly provides: "The School/JZK, Inc. has the right to refuse any person admission or enrollment[.]" CP 243 at ¶ 5. Thus, a plain reading of the CoP shows: (1) a student agrees not to disseminate RSE materials; (2) even if the student has signed the CoP, she may be denied enrollment in the future; and (3) even if a student is denied enrollment, she remains bound by her promise for the defined period of time. JZK, Inc. performed its obligation the moment it allowed Coverdale to attend its presentation and witness its teachings. That Coverdale may now regret the return promise she made is of no consequence. *Emberson v. Hartley*, 52 Wn.

App. 597, 601, 762 P.2d 364 (1988) (courts "will not relieve a party of a bad bargain as long as . . . she is competent to contract"). 17

### E. The trial court properly dismissed the fraud and misrepresentation counterclaim and affirmative defense.

Coverdale raises two issues regarding fraud or misrepresentation.

One concerns a counterclaim, the other a defense. Neither has merit.

## 1. One does not have a cause of action merely because she disagrees with an institution's teachings or message.

The entirety of Coverdale's fraud/misrepresentation counterclaim is premised on Coverdale's disbelief that "JZ Knight channels for various spiritual figures[.]" CP 327. This does not give rise to a cause of action.

A claim of fraud is established by clear, cogent and convincing evidence of all nine elements of fraud, including falsity. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 504, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). By the same standard, an individual asserting misrepresentation must prove, among other things, that the statement at issue is false. *E.g. Elliot Bay Seafoods, Inc. v. Port of Seattle*, 124 Wn. App. 5, 14, 98 P.3d 491 (2004).

<sup>17</sup> To the extent Coverdale believes that attendance at an event is not adequate consideration for a promise not to disseminate RSE's materials for the life of JZ Knight plus 21 years, this is no defense. While inadequate consideration was also not asserted as an affirmative defense, and is thus waived, "courts are loath to inquire into [adequacy of consideration], that is, into the comparative value of the promises and acts exchanged." *Browning v. Johnson*, 70 Wn.2d 145, 147, 422 P.2d 314 (1967).

Here, the trial court properly held that Coverdale could not establish that Plaintiff's spiritual beliefs<sup>18</sup> and statements about those beliefs are false. To do so would amount to a "heresy trial" in which the court would impermissibly sit in judgment of the validity of the beliefs of others.

The United States has long been guided by the principle that its civil courts have neither subject matter jurisdiction nor the competence to adjudicate ecclesiastical matters. See, e.g., Watson v. Jones, 80 U.S. 679, 728–29, 13 Wall. 679, 20 L. Ed. 666 (1871); Hosanna-Tabor Evangelical Lutheran Church & Sch. v. Equal Emp't Opportunity Comm'n, 132 S. Ct. 694, 181 L. Ed. 2d 650 (2012) ("a matter 'strictly ecclesiastical' . . . is the church's alone"). State intrusion into religious affairs "violates [the] rule of separation between church and state." Kedroff v. St. Nicholas Cathedral, 344 U.S. 94, 110, 73 S. Ct. 143, 97 L. Ed. 120 (1952). Courts therefore cannot "engage in the forbidden process of interpreting and weighing church doctrine." Presbyterian Church v. Mary Elizabeth Blue

Though Ramtha's School of Enlightenment is a for-profit school that does not hold itself out as a church or organized religion, the foundation of its teachings is spiritual and centers around belief in the teachings of Ramtha, a 35,000 year old warrior spirit channeled by Knight. "Where an individual's beliefs are 'arguably religious,' the court will recognize and consider them for purposes of constitutional analysis." *State v. Balzer*, 91 Wn. App. 44, 54, 954 P.2d 931 (1998) (citing *Int'l Soc'y for Krishna Consciousness, Inc. v. Barber*, 650 F.2d 430, 439 (2d Cir. 1981)).

Hull Mem'l Presbyterian Church, 393 U.S. 440, 451, 89 S. Ct. 601, 21 L. Ed. 2d 658 (1969).

In *United States v. Ballard*, a mail fraud case, the Supreme Court held that courts are prohibited from judging the truth or falsity of religious beliefs. 322 U.S. 78, 64 S. Ct. 882, 886, 88 L. Ed. 1148 (1944). There, "[t]he charge was that certain designated corporations were formed, literature distributed and sold, funds solicited, and memberships in the I Am movement sought 'by means of false and fraudulent representations, pretenses and promises." *Id.* Notably, the allegedly false representations centered on the defendants' claims that they were "divine messengers" who could channel the voices of their deities. *Id.* 

The Court explained that it would be constitutionally impermissible for a finder of fact to sit in judgment of the religious beliefs of another:

[W]e do not agree that the truth or verity of respondents' religious doctrines or beliefs should have been submitted to the jury. Whatever this particular indictment might require, the First Amendment precludes such a course, as the United States seems to concede. The law knows no heresy, and is committed to the support of no dogma, the establishment of no sect.

*Id.* at 86 (internal quotation marks omitted). The defendants' beliefs were entitled to the same constitutional respect as more common faiths.

The religious views espoused by respondents might seem incredible, if not preposterous, to most people. But if those doctrines are subject to trial before a jury charged with finding their truth or falsity, then the same can be done with the religious beliefs of any sect. When the triers of fact undertake that task, they enter a forbidden domain.

Id. at 87. Washington's Supreme Court has echoed *Ballard*, noting that "[c]ourts 'have nothing to do with determining the reasonableness of [a] belief." *Backlund v. Bd. of Comm'rs of King Cnty. Hosp. Dist. 2*, 106 Wn.2d, 632, 640, 724 P.2d 981 (1986) (quoting *State ex rel. Bolling v. Superior Court*, 16 Wn.2d 373, 384, 133 P.2d 803 (1943)). "The court will not inquire further into the truth or reasonableness of the individual's convictions." *Id.* 

*Ballard* controls. The facts are analogous. It is central to Respondent's beliefs that Ramtha is a master teacher and that his message is delivered through a human channel, JZ Knight. CP 122. The questions upon which Ramtha teaches encompass the ultimate nature of the human spirit. *Id*. Those beliefs are not subject to judicial challenge.

Coverdale's constitutional arguments were not raised in her two-page opposition below, CP 523–24, and are inadequately developed on appeal. Though she contends there is an "open question" about religious protections, Br. of App. at 50, Coverdale provides little more. Appellate courts do not consider constitutional issues "unsupported by sufficient argument." *In re Pers. Restraint of Erickson*, 146 Wn. App. 576, 588, 191

P.3d 917 (2008) (citing RAP 10.3(a)(5)); see also State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 171, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (declining review of constitutional issues unsupported by reasoned argument); Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (declining to consider argument where not supported by reference to the record or citation to authority); In re Request of Rosier, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353 (1986) ("[N]aked castings into the constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion"). Applying Ballard, the trial court properly dismissed Coverdale's defense/counterclaim of fraud and misrepresentation.

# 2. Coverdale cannot prove that she was induced to sign the CoP; she witnessed no "misrepresentations" before attending RSE.

To the extent Coverdale contends that she was fraudulently induced to sign the CoP based on representations of RSE's beliefs, the argument

Without analysis, Coverdale cites *Ockletree v. Franciscan Health System*, 179 Wn.2d 769, 317 P.3d 1009 (2014) and *Burwell v. Hobby Lobby*, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 134 S. Ct. 2751, 189 L. Ed. 2d 675 (June 30, 2014). Br. of App. at 50. Neither case is applicable. In *Ockletree*, Washington's Supreme Court decided that the religious exemption to the Washington Law Against Discrimination did not apply to job positions unrelated to religious functions. The Court was not presented with a nondisclosure agreement designed to protect the value of materials and information of any kind. At issue in *Hobby Lobby* was whether, under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb *et seq.* ("RFRA"), private for profit corporations could refuse to provide birth control to employees otherwise entitled to receive it by federal law. 131 S. Ct. at 2759. Though RFRA was neither raised nor argued in the instant case, it is notable that the U.S. Supreme Court held that for-profit corporations are "persons" that may perpetuate religious values. *Id.* at 2769–70.

fails for the same reason as her counterclaim. While Coverdale quibbles over the elements of a fraud claim versus an affirmative defense, the test she asserts still requires a fact finder to determine the truth or falsity of one's beliefs, as prohibited by *Ballard*.

Coverdale also failed to establish any conduct she relied upon in signing either the 2006 or 2007 CoP. She acknowledged that before she attended in 2006, she had never spoken with anyone at RSE, including JZ Knight. CP 1580. Any assertion that Coverdale relied on representations of scientific studies also fails. As noted below, Coverdale referenced unauthenticated and undated RSE publications. *See* CP 1653. Even so, these materials tracked the words of the scientists themselves. *Id.*; CP 1590. Most importantly, Coverdale *never* declared that she either saw or relied on any of these materials in deciding to attend RSE. *See* CP 1653. Coverdale could not have been induced to sign the CoP by conversations she never had and materials she never saw prior to attending RSE.

#### F. Coverdale was not unduly influenced to sign the CoP.

Coverdale was not unduly influenced to sign the CoP. Again, this affirmative defense was not pleaded, CP 325–26, asserted in a CR 12(b)(6) motion, or tried by express or implied consent. It was first raised in opposition to summary judgment, CP 1550–51. The defense was waived and was not properly before the trial court. *See* discussion, *supra*.

Even if not waived, Coverdale's arguments fail. At the outset, she could not have been unduly influenced to sign the 2006 CoP because she did not have *any* relationship with *anyone* at JZK, Inc. before doing so. CP 1550. Even so, the very authority upon which she relies provides:

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